

Psychological well-being of parents of very young children with type 1 diabetes – baseline assessment

Carine De Beaufort^{1, 2*}, Ineke M. Pit-ten Cate³, Ulrike Schierloh¹, Nathan Cohen⁴, Charlotte Boughton⁵, Martin Tauschmann⁶, Janet M. Allen^{5, 7}, Katrin Nagl⁶, Maria Fritsch^{6, 8}, James Yong⁹, Emily Metcalfe⁹, Dominique Schaeffer¹, Muriel Fichelle¹, Alena G. Thiele¹⁰, Daniela Abt¹¹, Kerstin Faninger⁸, Julia K. Mader¹², Sonja Slegtenhorst¹³, Nicole Ashcroft⁵, Malgorzata E. Wilinska⁵, Judy Sibayan⁴, Craig Kollman⁴, Sabine E. Hofer¹¹, Elke Frohlich-Reiterer⁸, Thomas Kapellen¹⁴, Carlo Acerini¹³, Fiona Campbell⁹, Birgit Rami-Merhar⁶, Roman Hovorka^{7, 5}

¹Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg, Luxembourg, ²Faculty of Medicine, Free University of Brussels, Belgium, ³University of Luxembourg, Luxembourg, ⁴Jaeb Center for Health Research, United States, ⁵MRC Metabolic Diseases Unit, Metabolic Research Laboratories, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom, ⁶University Clinic for Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Vienna, Austria, ⁷Department of Paediatrics, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom, ⁸Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University Graz, Austria, ⁹Leeds Children's Hospital, United Kingdom, ¹⁰Division of pediatric diabetology, university clinic Leipzig, Germany, ¹¹Department of Pediatrics, Innsbruck Medical University, Austria, ¹²Division of Endocrinology and Diabetology, Department of Internal Medicine, Medical University of Graz, Austria, ¹³Addenbrooke's Hospital, Cambridge University Hospitals, United Kingdom, ¹⁴Department of Pediatrics, University Hospital Leipzig, Germany

Submitted to Journal:
Frontiers in Endocrinology

Specialty Section:
Pediatric Endocrinology

Article type:
Original Research Article

Manuscript ID:
721028

Received on:
05 Jun 2021

Revised on:
18 Jul 2021

Journal website link:
www.frontiersin.org

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest

Author contribution statement

RH and NB coordinated the study. RH, SH, EFR, TK, CLA, CdB, FC, BR, JKM, MEW and MT designed the study. MT, JMA, KN, MF, JY, EM, DS, MF, US, AGT, DA, SS, SH, EFR, TK, CLA, CdB, FC, and BRM screened and enrolled participants and arranged informed consent from the participants. MT, JMA, KN, MF, JY, EM, DS, MF, US, AGT, DA, JKM, HK, SS, SH, EFR, TK, CLA, CdB, FC, and BRM provided patient care and took samples. JS managed randomisation. NC, JS, CdB and IPTC did or supported data analyses, including the statistical analyses. RH designed and implemented the glucose controller. CdB and IPTC wrote the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the report. CdB and IPTC had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Keywords

Hypoglycemia fear, Parental well-being, very young children, type 1 diabetes, Child Behavior

Abstract

Word count: 235

Background: Type 1 diabetes in young children is a heavy parental burden. As part of pilot phase of the KIDSAP01 study, we conducted a baseline assessment in parents to study the association between hypoglycemia fear, parental wellbeing and child behavior.

Methods: All parents were invited to fill in baseline questionnaires: hypoglycemia fear survey (HFS), WHO-5, Epworth Sleepiness Scale and Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ).

Results: 24 children (median age: 5-year, range 1-7 years, 63% male, mean diabetes duration: 3 ± 1.7 years) participated. 23/24 parents filled out the questionnaires. We found a higher score for the hypoglycemia fear behavior 33.9 ± 5.6 compared to hypoglycemia worry 34.6 ± 12.2 . Median WHO-5 score was 16 (8 - 22) with poor well-being in two parents. Median daytime sleepiness score was high in five parents (>10). For six children a high total behavioral difficulty score (>16) was reported. Pro social behavior score was lower than normal in six children (<6). Parental well-being was negatively associated with HSF total ($r = -0.50$, $p < .05$) and subscale scores ($r = -0.44$, $p < .05$ for HSF-Worry and HSF-Behavior), child behavior ($r = -0.45$, $p = .05$) and positively with child age ($r = 0.58$, $p < .01$). HSF, parental well-being nor daytime sleepiness are associated with the HbA1c.

Conclusion: Regular screening of parental well-being, hypoglycemia fear and child behavior should be part of routine care to target early intervention.

Contribution to the field

Type 1 diabetes in young children is a huge parental burden. As part of a pilot phase of a hybrid closed loop study (Kidsap02), we conducted a baseline assessment with questionnaires in parents to study the association between hypoglycemia fear (HSF), parental wellbeing (WHO-5) and child behavior (Strength & Difficulties Questionnaire). In this assessment parental well-being was negatively associated with HSF total ($r = -0.50$, $p < .05$) and subscale scores ($r = -0.44$, $p < .05$ for HSF-Worry and HSF-Behavior), and child behavior ($r = -0.45$, $p = .05$). Based on this outcome, regular screening of parental well-being, hypoglycemia fear and child behavior should be part of routine care. An assessment with questionnaire may be useful to evaluate impact of new therapeutic approach.

Funding statement

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research, Grant/Award Number: 731560; JDRF, Grant/Award Number: 3-SRA-2016-297-M-N; Jaeb Center for Health Research, Grant/Award Number: 3-SRA-2016-297-M-N; European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme, Grant/Award Number: 731560; University of Cambridge; University Hospitals of Leicester, National Health Service Trust; Addenbrooke's Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility; Wellcome Trust Strategic.

Ethics statements

Studies involving animal subjects

Generated Statement: No animal studies are presented in this manuscript.

Studies involving human subjects

Generated Statement: The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Cambridge East Research Ethics Committee in the UK , the Ethics Committee of the University of Innsbruck in Austria , the Ethics Committee of the University of Vienna in Austria , the Ethics Committee of the University of Graz in Austria , the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig in Germany , the Comité National d'Éthique de Recherche in Luxembourg. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Inclusion of identifiable human data

Generated Statement: No potentially identifiable human images or data is presented in this study.

In review

Data availability statement

Generated Statement: The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because Questionnaire data. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to bcchim@pt.lu.

In review

Psychological [well-being](#) of parents of very young children with type 1 diabetes
– baseline assessment.

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:13

Deleted: wellbeing

Parental [well-being](#) of children with diabetes

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:13

Deleted: wellbeing

Carine de Beaufort^{1,2}, Ineke M. Pit-ten Cate³, Ulrike Schierloh¹, Nathan
Cohen⁴, Charlotte K. Boughton⁵, Martin Tauschmann^{5,6,7}, Janet M. Allen^{5,6},

Katrin Nagl⁷, Maria Fritsch^{7,8}, James Yong⁹, Emily Metcalfe⁹, Dominique

Schaeffer¹, Muriel Fichelle¹, Alena G. Thiele¹⁰, Daniela Abt¹¹, Kerstin

Faninger⁸, Julia K. Mader¹², Sonja Slegtenhorst¹³, Nicole Ashcroft⁵,

Malgorzata E. Wilinska^{5,6}, Judy Sibayan⁴, Craig Kollman⁴, Sabine E. Hofer¹¹,

Elke Fröhlich-Reiterer⁸, Thomas M. Kapellen¹⁰, Carlo L. Acerini⁶, Fiona

Campbell⁹, Birgit Rami-Merhar⁷, Roman Hovorka^{5,6} on behalf of KIDSAP

consortium

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:28

Deleted: 13

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:28

Deleted: 8

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:28

Deleted: 8

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:28

Deleted: 9

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:30

Deleted: 0

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:28

Deleted: 113

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:29

Formatted: Superscript

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:30

Deleted: 1

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:30

Deleted: 2

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:31

Deleted: 0

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:29

Deleted: 13

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:31

Deleted: 9

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:30

Deleted: 8

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

AFFILIATIONS

¹ Pediatric Clinic/Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg DECCP, Luxembourg,
Luxembourg

² Department of Pediatrics, University Clinic Brussels, Brussels, Belgium

³ Luxembourg Center for Educational Assessment, University of Luxembourg,
Luxembourg

⁴ Jaeb Center for Health Research, Tampa, FL, USA

⁵ Wellcome Trust-MRC Institute of Metabolic Science, University of Cambridge,
Cambridge, UK

⁶ Department of Pediatrics, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

⁷ Department of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

Vienna, Vienna, Austria

⁸ Department of Paediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:32

Deleted: Department

Graz, Graz, Austria

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Formatted: Superscript

⁹ Department of Paediatric Diabetes, Leeds Children's Hospital, Leeds, UK

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:32

Deleted: of Paediatric Diabetes, Leeds Children's Hospital, Leeds, UK

¹⁰ Division of Paediatric Diabetology, University of Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Formatted: Superscript

¹¹ Department of Pediatrics 1, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:32

Deleted: Division

¹² Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology and Diabetology,

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Formatted: Superscript

Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Formatted: Superscript

¹³ Department of Nutrition & Dietetics, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Deleted: ⁰

Foundation Trust, Cambridge, UK

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Formatted: Superscript

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:32

Formatted: Raised by 5,5 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

WORD COUNT: 1848

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Deleted: ¹

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Deleted: ²

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:34

Formatted: Superscript

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:33

Deleted: ¹³ Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 12:05

Deleted: 1500

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR:

Carine de Beaufort,

Pediatric Clinic/Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg DECCP, 4, rue Barblé, 1210

Luxembourg,

Luxembourg Debeaufort.carine@chl.lu

Phone : + 352 44 11 3173; Fax : +352 44 11 6797

ABSTRACT

Background: Type 1 diabetes in young children is a heavy parental burden. As part of pilot phase of the KIDSAP01 study, we conducted a baseline assessment in parents to study the association between hypoglycemia fear, parental well-being and child behavior.

Methods: All parents were invited to fill in baseline questionnaires: hypoglycemia fear survey (HFS), WHO-5, Epworth Sleepiness Scale and Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ).

Results: 24 children (median age: 5-year, range 1-7 years, 63% male, mean diabetes duration: 3 ± 1.7 years) participated. 23/24 parents filled out the questionnaires. We found a higher score for the hypoglycemia fear behavior 33.9 ± 5.6 compared to hypoglycemia worry 34.6 ± 12.2 . Median WHO-5 score was 16 (8 - 22) with poor well-being in two parents. Median daytime sleepiness score was high in five parents (>10). For six children a high total behavioral difficulty score (>16) was reported. Pro social behavior score was lower than normal in six children (<6). Parental well-being was negatively associated with HFS total ($r = -0.50$, $p < .05$) and subscale scores ($r = -0.44$, $p < .05$ for HFS-Worry and HFS-Behavior), child behavior ($r = -0.45$, $p = .05$) and positively with child age and diabetes duration ($r = 0.58$, $p < .01$, $r = 0.6$, $p < .01$). HFS, parental well-being nor daytime sleepiness are associated with the HbA1c.

Conclusion: Regular screening of parental well-being, hypoglycemia fear and child behavior should be part of routine care to target early intervention.

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:13

Deleted: wellbeing

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Psychological well-being of parents of very young children with type 1 diabetes

- baseline assessment

Introduction

International recommendations propose a HbA1c of <7.0 % (<53 mmol/mol) in persons with type 1 diabetes (T1D) to prevent acute and late complications¹. Achieving near normal glucose values requires a continuous adjustment of insulin treatment around food intake, daily activities and hormonal changes. In preschool children these choices are determined by the parent/caregiver and pose continuous challenges and stress².

Especially the fear of hypoglycemia has been associated with increased stress in parents of younger children^{3–5}. Fear of hypoglycemia can lead to frequent nocturnal blood glucose measurements and subsequent sleep deprivation⁶, which in turn may affect parents' well-being as well as the (perceived) behavior of their child^{7,8}. New technology such as insulin or sensor-augmented pumps should improve metabolic control. Better control may reduce (perceived) child behavioral problems⁹ and parental anxiety around high and low blood glucose excursions^{7,10}. Regardless of treatment regimen, parents/caregivers of young children with T1D often report their anxiety caused by glucose fluctuations during the night^{11,12}. This suggests that these technologies, although providing improved metabolic outcome, may not yet alleviate parental stress levels.

Next steps in technology advancement include the use of the artificial pancreas, where different algorithms are used to steer insulin administration¹³. An initial evaluation of the use of the Cambridge algorithm in toddlers demonstrated the feasibility of hybrid closed-loop insulin delivery in young children with diabetes¹⁴, whereby parents reported reduced diabetes management burden and improved

sleep quality¹⁵. The current paper presents data from this baseline assessment with a specific focus on parental well-being in relation to fear of hypoglycemia.

Methods

The KIDSAP01 study (NCT03101865) aims to evaluate a hybrid closed-loop insulin administration system, based on the Cambridge algorithm, under free-living conditions in very young children with T1D. A feasibility study was conducted to pretest the setup of the large-scale trial and to determine the specific needs of young children with T1D and their parents. In regards to the latter, parents of children participating in study completed questionnaires on hypoglycemia fear, parental well-being, daytime sleepiness and child behavior at baseline.

Participants

The patient population has been described in detail previously^{14,15}. To summarize, 24 children (median age 5 years, range 1-7 years, 63% male) with T1D from four countries (UK, Luxembourg, Germany and Austria) and seven clinics were included. Mean diabetes duration was 3.0 ± 1.7 years (range 0.5-6.4 years). All children were treated for at least three months with insulin pumps.

The majority of children (n=18) used the Medtronic 640G pumps, 4 had a Medtronic 554 pump, 1 used an Animas Vibe and 1 a Roche Insight. The Medtronic Guardian REAL time sensor was used by 15 children, the ABBOTT LIBRE was used by 4 children and 3 children did not wear a sensor at baseline of this study.

HbA1c levels at baseline were used as an indicator of metabolic control (mean HbA1c, 7.4 ± 0.7 % (57 ± 8 mmol/mol) and range 5.9-8.7% (41 - 72 mmol/mol). In the three months prior to the study, no severe hypoglycemia nor diabetic

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:13

Deleted: wellbeing

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:42

Formatted: Line spacing: double, No bullets or numbering

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:56

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:56

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:56

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:56

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:56

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:56

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:56

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

ketoacidosis had been observed. Twenty-three of the 24 parents filled out the questionnaire at the start of the study.

Measures

The Hypoglycemia Fear Survey ([HFS](#)) for Parents¹⁶ is a 26-item survey comprised of a [HFS](#)-worry and a [HFS](#)-behavior subscale. All items are scored on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = “never”; 5 = “always”). Higher scores reflect higher hypoglycemia fear.

The WHO-5 questionnaire has been extensively used to assess well-being in persons with diabetes and their family¹⁷. It includes five items, with item scores ranging from 0 to 5. Scores under 13 are indicative of poor well-being and a score of below 7 warrants further testing for depression¹⁸.

The Epworth Sleepiness scale evaluates sleepiness and risk to doze off during the day¹⁹. It includes eight questions, scored between 0 and 3, whereby total scores > 9 indicate excessive sleepiness.

The strength and difficulties questionnaire is a screening tool to identify psychosocial problems in (pre-)school children^{20–22}. It includes 25 items comprising four subscales measuring difficulties (emotional, conduct or peer problems and hyperactivity), and a pro-social subscale rating the strengths. The total score is based on the first 4 subscales, whereby a total score > 15 is indicative of a high risk for psychosocial problems²³.

Statistical analyses

First descriptive data will be reviewed to identify the percentage of parents scoring within (ab)normal ranges on the standardized measures. In addition, correlational analyses will be conducted to identify relationships between indicators of parental well-being and child metabolic control and behavior.

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:02

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:02

Formatted: Line spacing: double

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:02

Formatted: Right: 0 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:02

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Based on previous research we expected positive relationships between parental well-being and metabolic control and child behavior. Given the exploratory nature of the pilot study, no a-priori power analyses were conducted.

Results

Descriptive results are provided in Table 1. Results suggest that parents' fear of hypoglycemia is signified by their behavior rather than their worries. Most pronounced fear-related behaviors reflected parents making sure their child had access to fast-acting carbohydrates and getting up in the middle of the night to check the child's blood sugar levels. High mean worry scores were reported for low glucose levels whilst child was sleeping and for parent not being around when the child has low blood sugar. Poor well-being was reported by 2/23 (9%) parents, whereas 5/23 (22%) parents scored low on the question 'I woke up feeling fresh and rested'. This question also generated the lowest mean score for the sample as a whole ($M=2.86$, $SD=1.46$). Excessive daytime sleepiness (scores >10) was reported by 5/23 (22%) parents. Although parent reported child behavioral difficulties were on average within the normal range, scores for three children were in the high range (scores 17-19) and for another three in the very high range (i.e., scores ≥ 20). These scores reflect elevated scores on especially the subscales conduct and emotion. Pro-social behavior was very low for two children.

Parental well-being scores were negatively associated with fear of hypoglycemia and child behavior but positively associated with child age and diabetes duration (see Table 2). Parental well-being scores were negatively associated with fear of hypoglycemia total ($r = -0.50$, $p < .05$) and subscale scores ($r = -0.44$, $p < .05$ for HFS-Worry and HFS-Behavior) and child behavior ($r = -0.45$, $p = .05$) but positively associated with child age and diabetes duration ($r = 0.58$, $p < .01$, $r =$

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:02
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:02
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:14
Deleted:

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:29
Formatted: Right: 0 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and numbers

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:28
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

0.60, $p < .01$). All other between-measures correlations were not significant (see table 2).

Discussion

Parents of very young children with T1D reported on their worries and behavior in relation to hypoglycemia before commencing a closed-loop intervention. The hypoglycemic fear ratings in the current sample were higher than previously reported for a sample of parents of children with T1D aged 6 and above⁵. HFS-worry subscale scores were however comparable to those reported by parents of children younger than 7 years¹². Parents indicated they especially worry about hypoglycemia during the night and will regularly get up to check the blood glucose values in order to prevent hypoglycemia or reduce fear of hypoglycemia. This confirms previous reports, suggesting that nights are particularly difficult for parents of young children with T1D¹².

No relationship was found between daytime sleepiness and other constructs nor with child age or HbA1c. This lack of association suggests that excessive daytime sleepiness in this group of parents is not directly related to the management of their child's diabetes but could rather be caused by the poorer quality of sleep of the child, general sleep deprivation or irregular sleep patterns²⁴.

Poor well-being was observed in 2/23 (9%) parents. This percentage is lower than previously reported in parents of youth with diabetes, and may indicate that diabetes and its management affects parental well-being differently depending on the developmental stage of the child²⁵. The negative association between nocturnal fear of hypoglycemia and perceived well-being suggest that fear of hypoglycemia may be one of the key contributors to the diabetes burden.

Parental well-being was positively associated with diabetes duration and child

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:25

Deleted: .

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 09:40

Deleted: HSF

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:42

Deleted: two

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:43

Deleted: (9%).

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:39

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

age, whereby child age and diabetes duration were also highly associated. It may be that caring for a very young child is generally challenging for parents and especially so when the child is diagnosed with T1D. As children grow older, parents may adjust to both parenting and diabetes management, even when this does not reduce hypoglycemia fear. Further research is needed to investigate to what extent this relates to general parenting issues or is affected by the specific challenges associated with caring for a very young child with T1D.

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:06
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Twenty-six percent of the parents (6/23) reported child behavioral difficulties in the high to very high range, signified by 13% (3/23) scoring very high on subscale emotional difficulties and 17% (4/23) on conduct problems. These findings support previous research, indicating that parents often report higher levels of behavioral difficulties for children with T1D, most notably a higher incidence of anxiety and depression and externalizing problems^{7,8,26}.

A negative association was found between parental well-being and child behavior, but not HbA1c levels. Well-being of parents is considered relevant for the long-term outcome in children with diabetes and reduced parental well-being is associated with an increase in child psychosocial problems and worse glycemic control^{25,27,28}. Although our results confirm the association between parental well-being and perceived child behavior, no association with either construct and HbA1c levels was found. This may be related to the child's age, as the glycemic control in very young children may be mainly determined by the management behavior of the parent/caregiver and less affected by child behavior.

Fear of hypoglycemia was not related to HbA1c levels. This suggests that parental burden is mainly affected by parental anxiety concerning the management of their child's diabetes rather than the actual glycemic control. To

this extent, it is imperative that intervention programs are offered to support parents in a timely manner and, in effect, improve long-term outcomes of glycemic control, child behavior and parental well-being^{8,26}.

Some limitation should be considered. Results should be interpreted with caution given the small sample size. Although post-hoc power analyses (using G*Power) indicate that the sample size of N=23 provided at least .74 power to detect effect sizes $\geq .44$, medium and smaller effects may not have been detected. Furthermore, our data are all based on parent's reflective reporting. In future studies, observational data or diaries could be used to obtain other indications of parents' and children's actual behavior. In addition, the current results are based on cross-sectional data, allowing for the investigations of association. Longitudinal studies are however necessary to investigate causal relationships between the constructs.

Our study also has some specific strength. Using a multicenter and multinational design, our data can confirm that the burden of diabetes in the very young children is universal and needs to be identified and addressed within diabetes care programs to improve long-term diabetes outcomes and prevent psychological /behavioral complications. One option may be the use of hybrid closed-loop systems with age appropriate algorithms, reducing nocturnal risk of hypoglycemia and glucose variability. Such intervention has been found to reduce diabetes burden^{15,29}. In addition, family-based interventions, aimed to support parents in managing their child's diabetes have had positive effects on glycemic control as well as parent-child relationships²⁶.

Author Contributions

RH and NB coordinated the study. RH, SH, EFR, TK, CLA, CdB, FC, BR, JKM,

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:04
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:04
Deleted: First,

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:56
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 10:56
Deleted: Given the multicenter and multinational design, our data indicate that the burden of diabetes in the very young children is universal

MEW and MT designed the study. MT, JMA, KN, MF, JY, EM, DS, MF, US, AGT, DA, SS, SH, EFR, TK, CLA, CdB, FC, and BRM screened and enrolled participants and arranged informed consent from the participants. MT, JMA, KN, MF, JY, EM, DS, MF, US, AGT, DA, JKM, HK, SS, SH, EFR, TK, CLA, CdB, FC, and BRM provided patient care and took samples. JS managed randomisation. NC, JS, CdB and IPtC did or supported data analyses, including the statistical analyses. RH designed and implemented the glucose controller. CdB and IPtC wrote the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the report.

CdB and IPtC had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Declarations of interest

MT reports having received speaker honoraria from Minimed Medtronic and Novo Nordisk.

MFr has received speaker honoraria from Minimed Medtronic and has served on advisory boards for Eli Lilly.

JKM is a member in the advisory board of Becton-Dickinson, Boehringer Ingelheim, Eli Lilly, Medtronic and Sanofi, and has received speaker honoraria from [ABBOTT](#), Diabetes Care, Astra Zeneca, Eli Lilly, Nintamed, Novo Nordisk, Roche Diabetes Care, Sanofi, Servier and Takeda.

MEW has received license fees from Becton Dickinson and has served as a consultant to Beckton Dickinson.

SEH declares speaker honoraria from Eli Lilly and Sanofi.

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 12:06

Deleted: Abbot

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 12:06

Deleted: t

EFR reports having received speaker honoraria from Minimed Medtronic and Eli Lilly, serving on advisory boards for Eli Lilly.

TMK has received speaker honoraria from Minimed Medtronic, Roche and Eli Lilly and is member of an advisory board for [ABBOTT](#) Diabetes Care.

CdB has received speaker honoraria from Minimed Medtronic, and is member of their European Psychology Advisory Board.

FC does attend Advisory Boards and obtain speaking fees for [ABBOTT](#), Medtronic, Lilly, and NovoNordisk.

BRM reports having received speaker honoraria from Minimed Medtronic, Eli Lilly, Roche, Menarini and Novo Nordisk, serving on advisory boards for Eli Lilly.

RH reports having received speaker honoraria from Eli Lilly, Dexcom and Novo Nordisk, receiving license fees from Medtronic, and being director at CamDiab.

IPtC, GM, KD, CB, JMA, KN, JY, EM, DS, MFi, US, AGT, DA, HK, SS, NB, JS, NC, CK, and CLA declare no competing financial interests exist.

Funding/support

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research, Grant/Award Number: 731560; JDRF, Grant/Award Number: 3-SRA-2016-297-M-N; Jaeb Center for Health Research, Grant/Award Number: 3-SRA-2016-297-M-N; European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme, Grant/Award Number: 731560; University of Cambridge; University Hospitals of Leicester, National Health Service Trust; Addenbrooke's Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility; Wellcome Trust Strategic.

Acknowledgements

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 12:06

Deleted: Abbot

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 12:06

Deleted: Abbot

Additional support for the artificial pancreas work was from National Institute for Health Research Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre, and Wellcome Trust Strategic Award (100574/Z/12/Z). Medtronic supplied discounted CGM devices, sensors, and details of communication protocol to facilitate real-time connectivity. We thank study volunteers for their participation and acknowledge support by the staff at the Addenbrooke's Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility. Jasdip Mangat (University Hospitals of Leicester, National Health Service Trust, Leicester, UK) supported development and validation of the closed-loop system. Josephine Hayes (University of Cambridge) provided administrative support.

Role of funding source

No sponsor had any role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report.

In review

References

1. DiMeglio LA, Acerini CL, Codner E, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Glycemic control targets and glucose monitoring for children, adolescents, and young adults with diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19:105-114. doi:10.1111/pedi.12737
2. Sundberg F, Barnard K, Cato A, et al. Managing diabetes in preschool children. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2017;18:499-517. doi:10.1111/pedi.12554
3. Streisand R, Swift E, Wickmark T, Chen R, Holmes CS. Pediatric parenting stress among parents of children with type 1 diabetes: The role of self-efficacy, responsibility, and fear. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2005;30(6):513-521. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsi076
4. Patton SR, Dolan LM, Smith LB, Thomas IH, Powers SW. Pediatric parenting stress and its relation to depressive symptoms and fear of hypoglycemia in parents of young children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Psychol Med Settings*. 2011;18:345-352. doi:10.1007/s10880-011-9256-1
5. Viaene AS, Van Daele T, Bleys D, Faust K, Massa GG. Fear of hypoglycemia, parenting stress, and metabolic control for children with type 1 diabetes and their Parents. *J Clin Psychol Med Settings*. 2017;24:74-81. doi:10.1007/s10880-017-9489-8
6. Monaghan MC, Hilliard ME, Cogen FR, Streisand R. Nighttime caregiving behaviors among parents of young children with Type 1 diabetes: Associations with illness characteristics and parent functioning. *Fam Syst Heal*. 2009;27:28-38. doi:10.1037/a0014770

7. Hilliard ME, Monaghan M, Cogen FR, Streisand R. Parent stress and child behaviour among young children with type 1 diabetes. *Child Care Health Dev.* 2011;37:224-232. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2214.2010.01162.x
8. Sweenie R, Mackey ER, Streisand R. Parent-child relationships in Type 1 diabetes: associations among child behavior, parenting behavior, and pediatric parenting stress. *Fam Syst Health.* 2014;32:31-42. doi:10.1037/fsh0000001
9. McDonnell CM, Northam EA, Donath SM, Werther GA, Cameron FJ. Hyperglycemia and externalizing behavior in children with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* 2007;30:2211-2215. doi:10.2337/dc07-0328
10. Jaser SS, Whittemore R, Ambrosino JM, Lindemann E, Grey M. Coping and psychosocial adjustment in mothers of young children with type 1 diabetes. *Child Heal Care.* 2009;38(2):91-106. doi:10.1080/02739610902813229
11. Patton SR, Dolan LM, Henry R, Powers SW. Fear of hypoglycemia in parents of young children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Psychol Med Settings.* 2008;15:252-259. doi:10.1007/s10880-008-9123-x
12. Van Name MA, Hilliard ME, Boyle CT, et al. Nighttime is the worst time: Parental fear of hypoglycemia in young children with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes.* 2018;19:114-120. doi:10.1111/pedi.12525
13. Steineck I, Ranjan A, Nørgaard K, Schmidt S. Sensor-Augmented Insulin Pumps and Hypoglycemia Prevention in Type 1 Diabetes. *J Diabetes Sci Technol.* 2017;11:50-58. doi:10.1177/1932296816672689
14. Tauschmann M, Allen JM, Nagl K, et al. Home use of day-and-night hybrid

closed-loop insulin delivery in very young children: A multicenter, 3-week, randomized trial. *Diabetes Care*. 2019;42:594-600. doi:10.2337/dc18-1881

15. Musolino G, Dovc K, Boughton CK, et al. Reduced burden of diabetes and improved quality of life: Experiences from unrestricted day-and-night hybrid closed-loop use in very young children with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2019;20:794-799. doi:10.1111/pedi.12872
16. Clarke WL, Gonder-Frederick LA, Snyder AL, Cox, DJ. Maternal fear of hypoglycemia in their children with insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab*. 1998;11(Supplement):189–194. doi:10.1515/JPEM.1998.11.S1.189
17. Topp CW, Østergaard SD, Søndergaard S, Bech P. The WHO-5 well-being index: A systematic review of the literature. *Psychother Psychosom*. 2015;84:167-176. doi:10.1159/000376585
18. Bech P. Measuring the dimension of psychological general well-being by the WHO-5. *QoL News!*. 2004;32:15-16.
19. Johns MW. A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: The Epworth Sleepiness Scale. *Sleep*. 1991;14:540-545. doi:10.1093/sleep/14.6.540
20. Goodman R. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip*. 1997;38:581-586.
21. Goodman R, Scott S. Comparing the strengths and difficulties questionnaire and the child behavior checklist: is small beautiful? *J Abnorm Child Psychol*. 1999;27:17-24.

22. Goodman R. Using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) to screen for child psychiatric disorders in a community sample. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2000;177:534-539. doi:10.1192/bjp.177.6.534
23. Theunissen MHC, Vogels AGC, De Wolff MS, Crone MR, Reijneveld SA. Comparing three short questionnaires to detect psychosocial problems among 3 to 4-year olds. *BMC Pediatr*. 2015;15:1-8. doi:10.1186/s12887-015-0391-y
24. Jaser SS, Foster NC, Nelson BA, et al. Sleep in children with type 1 diabetes and their parents in the T1D Exchange. *Sleep Med*. 2017;39:108-115. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2017.07.005
25. Eilander MMA, Snoek FJ, Rotteveel J, et al. Parental Diabetes Behaviors and Distress Are Related to Glycemic Control in Youth with Type 1 Diabetes: Longitudinal Data from the DINO Study. *J Diabetes Res*. 2017;2017. doi:10.1155/2017/1462064
26. Delamater AM, de Wit M, McDarby V, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Psychological care of children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19:237-249. doi:10.1111/pedi.12736
27. Duke DC, Geffken GR, Lewin AB, Williams LB, Storch EA, Silverstein JH. Glycemic control in youth with type 1 diabetes: Family predictors and mediators. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2008;33:719-727. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsn012
28. Naar-King S, Idalski A, Ellis D, et al. Gender differences in adherence and metabolic control in urban youth with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes: The mediating role of mental health symptoms. *J Pediatr Psychol*.

29. Ziegler C, Liberman A, Nimri R, et al. Reduced worries of hypoglycaemia, high satisfaction, and increased perceived ease of use after experiencing four nights of MD-Logic Artificial Pancreas at home (DREAM4). *J Diabetes Res.* 2015;2:article I:1-8. doi:10.1155/2015/590308

Table 1. Descriptive statistics (Mean, Standard Deviation, Median, Range) for scales used in the study

	Mean (SD)	Median	Range
Baseline			
Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire^a			
Emotional Problems Subscale Total Score	2.35 (2.12)	2.00	0 - 7
Conduct Problems Subscale Total Score	3.26 (2.49)	3.00	0 - 10
Hyperactivity Subscale Total Score	4.48 (2.15)	4.00	0 – 8
Peer Problems Subscale Total Score	1.35 (1.56)	1.00	0 – 5
Prosocial Subscale Total Score	7.13 (2.22)	8.00	1 – 10
Total Difficulties Score	11.44 (6.65)	11.00	2 – 25
Hypoglycemia Fear Survey Total Score^b	68.52 (16.16)	70.00	44 - 105
Behavior Subscale Total Score	33.91 (5.58)	35.00	22 – 44

Worry Subscale Total Score	34.61 (12.18)	32.00	20 – 62
WHO-5 Total Score^c	16.78 (4.08)	16	8 - 22
Epworth Sleepiness Scale Total Score^d	6.83 (5.38)	6.00	0 - 24

^a Subscales are on scale 0-10. Total difficulties score is on scale 0-40. For all subscales except the prosocial subscale and total scale, a higher score denotes more difficulties and fewer strengths. For the prosocial subscale, a higher score denotes more strengths and fewer difficulties. For this score, a higher score denotes more difficulties and fewer strengths.

^b Total score is on scale 26-130. Behavior subscale is on scale 11-55, and worry subscale is on scale 15-75. Higher score denotes more fear. Mean score for items on the HFSP-B subscale was 3.08 (SD=0.51). Mean score for items on the HFSP-W subscale was 2.31 (SD=0.81).

^c Scale 0-25. Higher score denotes better well-being.

^d Scale 0-24. Higher score denotes more sleepiness.

Table 2: Spearman rho Correlation between Parental Well-being, HbA1C, Child Age, Diabetes duration, Hypoglycemia Fear, Child Behavior and Sleepiness (N=23)

	HbA1C	age	Diabetes	WHO-5	HFSP-B	HFSP-W	HFSP-TOT	ESS
HbA1C	1.00	.41	.26	.21	-.38	-.24	-.27	.05

- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:45
Deleted: Table 2: Spearman rho Correlation between Parental well-being, hypoglycemia fear, child behavior and sleepiness (N=23) .
- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial
- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46
Formatted: Line spacing: double
- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46
Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt
- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46
Formatted: Font:12 pt
- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46
Formatted: Font:12 pt
- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46
Formatted: Font:12 pt
- Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46
Formatted: Font:12 pt

Age		1.00	.91***	.58**	-.19	-.24	-.26	-.09	-.22
Diabetes Duration	▲		1.00	.60**	-.06	-.13	-.14	-.01	
WHO5	▲			1.00	-.44*	-.44*	-.50*	-.21	
HFSP-B	▲				1.00	.63***	.81***	.22	
HFSP-W	▲					1.00	.95***	.32	
HFSP-TOT	▲						1.00	.31	
ESS	▲							1.00	
SDQ-TOT	▲								1.00

* $p < .05$ ** $p < .01$ *** $p < .001$

WHO5 = Well-being measure; HFS-B = Hypoglycemia fear behavior; HFS-W =

Hypoglycemia fear worry; HFS-TOT = Hypoglycemia fear total; ESS =

Epworth sleepiness scale; SDQ-TOT = SDQ Total Score

In review

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Line spacing: double

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:46

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 12 pt

Carine De Beaufort 18/7/21 11:45

Deleted: * $p < .05$ ** $p < .01$ *** $p < .001$... [2]